
 
 

 

 
VENTANA METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

Regular Board Meeting 
 11007 Hidden Prairie Pkwy. 

Fountain, CO  80817 
Wednesday, October 13, 2021 – 10:00 a.m. 

 
Brian Bahr, President - Term to May 2022 

Bruce Peele, Secretary/ Treasurer - Term May 2022 
Richard Vorwaller - Term to May 2022 

Patrick Jarrett - Term to May 2023 
Jennifer Herzberg - Term to May 2023 

 
** Please join the meeting from your computer, tablet or smartphone** 

https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/622480501  
You can also dial in using your phone. 

United States: +1 (646) 749-3129 
Access Code: 622-480-501 

 
Public invited to attend 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Declaration of Quorum/Director Qualifications/ Disclosure Matters 

  
3. Approval of Agenda 
 
4. Regular Business Items (These items are routine and may be approved by one motion. 

There will be no separate discussion of these items unless requested, in which event the 
item will be heard immediately) 
 

a. Approval of Board Meeting Minutes from the September 8, 2021 Meeting 
(attached) 

b. Approval of Payables for the Period ending October 13, 2021 (attached) 
• General Fund –  $ 67,478.55 
• Bond Fund –  $            -_______  
• TOTAL –   $ 67,478.55 

c. Acceptance of Unaudited Financial Statements as of September 30, 2021 and the 
schedule of cash position updated as of September 30, 2021 (attached) 

 
5. Market Update/Construction/Operations  
 

https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/622480501


 
 

 
6. District Management Matters 

a. Manager’s Report (attached) 
b. Review and approval for Capital items of Proposals (attached) 

i. Addition of cameras at Recreation Center 
c. Food Trucks 
d. Billing 

i.  October 6, 2021 bills were sent for 4th QRT 
ii. 12 liens in place to date  

iii. Reminder Letters will be sent on 11/2/2021 
iv. Collection Letters will be sent on 12/2/2021 

7. VCC Matters 

8. Legal Matters 
a. Service Plan Amendment Update (enclosed) 

 
9. Financial Matters 

a. Draft 2022 Budget  
b. Bond Update  

 
10. Public Comment and Public Sign-In Attendance Sheet  

(Limited to 3 minutes and only for items not on the agenda) 
 
10. Other Business:  
  

Next Regular Meeting Date – November 10, 2021 at 10:00 AM 
 

11. Adjourn 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 



 
 

 

 
VENTANA METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

Regular Board Meeting 
 11007 Hidden Prairie Pkwy. 

Fountain, CO  80817 
Wednesday, September 8, 2021 – 10:00 a.m. 

 
Brian Bahr, President - Term to May 2022 

Bruce Peele, Secretary/ Treasurer - Term May 2022 
Richard Vorwaller - Term to May 2022 

Patrick Jarrett - Term to May 2023 
Jennifer Herzberg - Term to May 2023 

 
MINUTES 

 
1. Call to Order: President Bahr called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. 
 
2. Declaration of Quorum/Director Qualifications/ Disclosure Matters: President Bahr 

confirmed a quorum. All disclosures were properly filed with the Department of Local 
Affairs, State of Colorado by Mr. Susemihl 
 
Directors in attendance were: 
Brian Bahr 
Richard Vorwaller 
Patrick Jarrett 
Jennifer Herzberg 
Bruce Peele 

 
Also in attendance were:  
Rebecca Hardekopf, Walker Schooler District Managers 
Kevin Walker, Walker Schooler District Managers 

 Pete Susemihl, Susemihl, McDermott & Downie, P.C. 
Members of the Public  

 
  

3. Approval of Agenda: Director Vorwaller moved to approve the Agenda as presented; 
seconded by Director Jarrett. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
4. Regular Business Items 

a. Approval of Board Meeting Minutes from the August 11, 2021 Meeting 
b. Approval of Payables for the Period ending September 8, 2021 

• General Fund –  $ 43,109.89 
• Bond Fund –  $            -_______  
• TOTAL –   $ 43,109.89 



 
 

c. Acceptance of Unaudited Financial Statements as of August 31, 2021 and the 
schedule of cash position updated as of August 31, 2021 

 
Director Vorwaller moved to approve the Regular Business Items as presented; 
seconded by Director Jarrett. Motion passed unanimously.  

 
5. Market Update/Construction/Operations: Director Jarrett reported Ventana South 

operations are ongoing and paving is still on schedule to begin in November 2021.  
 

6. District Management Matters 
a. Manager’s Report: Ms. Hardekopf presented the Manager’s Report. Making 

special note of the pool and spa closure as of September 7, 2021. 
b. Review and Approval for Capital Items of Proposals: Ms. Hardekopf presented 

the postponed items for the Board to re-address based on their questions from last 
meeting. 

i. Addition of cameras at Recreation Center: Ms. Hardekopf suggested the 
Board postpone this additional until she is able to get other quotes. 

ii. Shade cover addition to the Park: The Board discussed the shelter option 
versus the shade covering options for the park. Director Herzberg’s 
concern is the possibility of vandalism to a fabric canopy versus a metal 
structure.  The Board agreed they would prefer a metal structure but 
want to receive additional bids before moving forward. 

iii. Shade cover addition to the Pool Deck: The Board discussed the 
maintenance, warranty, and storage for the shade canopy at the pool.  
Director Jarrett moved to approve the proposal and shade cover addition 
to the pool deck; seconded by Director Herzberg.  Motion passed 
unanimously.  

c. City of Fountain Additional Bus Stop Location Update: Ms. Hardekopf discussed 
the new proposed location for the bus stop and the Board agreed with the City of 
Fountain Transportations new proposed location for a bus stop near the 
community.  

d. Food Trucks: Ms. Hardekopf had no update to the food trucks.  
e. Billing 

i.  July 6, 2021 bills were sent for 3rd QRT 
ii. 6 liens remain in place to date  

iii. 76 Reminder Letters sent on 8/3/2021 
iv. Collection Letters will be sent on 9/2/2021 
v. Legal counsels Lien letters will be sent around 9/16/2021 

7. VCC Matters 
a. Appointment of VCC Board Members: Ms. Hardekopf opened discussion on re-

appointments for the VCC Board and noted they did not receive notice of interest 
from any other residents. The VCC Board members would be Director Eric 
Farrar, Director Jennifer Herzberg, and Director Noe Arvizu.  Director Vorwaller 
moved to re-appoint the existing VCC Board Members; seconded by Director 
Jarrett.  Motion passed unanimously. 

8. Legal Matters: Mr. Susemihl recommended the Board advertise for a Budget Hearing at 
the regular November 10, 2021 Board meeting. 

 



 
 

9. Financial Matters 
a. Bond Update: Mr. Walker gave an update that the Service Plan Amendment has 

been submitted to the City of Fountain and they will now need to schedule a 
meeting to discuss the fee basis of the Amendment. Once the Service Plan 
Amendment is processed, the bond can be finalized.  

 
10. Public Comment and Public Sign-In Attendance Sheet  

 
Mr. Eric Farrar commented that he would like to see an inspection be completed on 
Filing 6 before the landscape responsibility is turned over to the Metropolitan District. 
President Bahr concurred and directed that be done. Ms. Hardekopf will be in contact 
with Mr. Jarrett to arrange for a time that the Developer’s landscaper, the District’s 
landscaper, Ms. Hardekopf, Mr. Jarrett, Mr. Farrar, and Mrs. Herzberg can be part of the 
inspection before turn-over.  

 
11. Other Business:  
  

Next Regular Meeting Date – October 13, 2021 at 10:00 AM 
 

12. Adjourn: Director Vorwaller moved to adjourn at 10:27 a.m.; seconded by Director 
Jarrett. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
By: ________________________________________________________________ 

Secretary for the Meeting 
 

THESE MINUTES ARE APPROVED AS THE OFFICIAL SEPTEMBER 8, 2021 
MINUTES OF THE VENTANA METROPOLITAN DISTRICT BY THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS SIGNING BELOW: 

 
_______________________________________________ 
Brian Bahr, President 

 
_______________________________________________ 
Bruce Peele, Secretary/ Treasurer 

 
_______________________________________________ 
Rich Vorwaller, Director 

 
_______________________________________________ 
Patrick Jarrett, Director 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Jennifer Herzberg, Director 



 



Company Invoice Date Amount Retainage Amount this Draw Comments
Black Hills Engergy 09/30/2021 9/30/2021 476.28            476.28$                        
City of Fountain Utilities 10005472-02 9/17/2021 6,388.32         6,388.32$                     Auto Pay - Rec 
City of Fountain Utilities 10005630-03 9/17/2021 7,189.18         7,189.18$                     Auto Pay - Park
City of Fountain Utilities 10005686-02 9/17/2021 874.11            874.11$                        Auto Pay - Tract
City of Fountain Utilities 10006794-01 9/17/2021 2,050.80         2,050.80$                     Auto Pay - Tract
City of Fountain Utilities 10006795-00 9/17/2021 25.17              25.17$                          Auto Pay - Tract
Comcast 8.4979E+14 10/27/2021 561.75            561.75$                        
Go Play Inc SRPSSQ22 9/8/2021 13,343.50       13,343.50$                   
Mailing Services Inc 1996 9/28/2021 100.00            100.00$                        
Signal 88, LLC 15627 9/8/2021 179.59            179.59$                        
Signal 88, LLC 3506516 9/18/2021 966.79            966.79$                        
Susemihl, McDermott & Downie, P.C 3512517 10/19/2021 980.18            980.18$                        
Walker Schooler District Managers 6903 9/30/2021 4,876.58         4,876.58$                     
Waste Connections of CO 4086289 10/1/2021 4,992.50         4,992.50$                     Auto Pay
Waste Connections of CO 4086295 10/1/2021 54.00              54.00$                          Auto Pay
Waste Connections of CO 4088300 10/1/2021 55.00              55.00$                          
Waste Connections of CO 4086291 10/1/2021 72.10              72.10$                          
Waste Connections of CO 4086294 10/2/2021 36.06              36.06$                          
We Make It Shine 21-08 9/1/2021 1,898.97         1,898.97$                     
We Make It Shine 21-09 11/4/2021 1,301.85         1,301.85$                     
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 43259 9/9/2021 138.75            138.75$                        
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 43302 9/16/2021 101.00            101.00$                        
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 43438 9/20/2021 94.75              94.75$                          
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 43422 9/20/2021 12,223.89       12,223.89$                   
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 43461 9/23/2021 75.50              75.50$                          
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 43526 9/29/2021 150.75            150.75$                        
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 43544 9/29/2021 1,545.00         1,545.00$                     
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 43574 9/30/2021 105.00            105.00$                        
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 43382 9/30/2021 4,350.00         4,350.00$                     

TOTAL 67,478.55$     -$            67,478.55$                   

TOTAL FOR ALL FUNDS 67,478.55$           , Director

Ventana Metropolitan District
 PAYMENT REQUEST

10/13/2021
GENERAL FUND ACCOUNT



 



 4:11 PM
 10/07/21
 Accrual Basis

 Ventana Metropolitan District

 Balance Sheet
 As of September 30, 2021

Sep 30, 21

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

1110 · Kirkpatrick Bank 838,451.72

Total Checking/Savings 838,451.72

Accounts Receivable

1-1210 · Accounts Receivable 285.00

1-1230 · Property Taxes Receivable 2,452.61

Total Accounts Receivable 2,737.61

Other Current Assets

1310 · Due from Developer 32,741.59

1390 · Undeposited Funds 605.00

Total Other Current Assets 33,346.59

Total Current Assets 874,535.92

Fixed Assets

Property and Equipment

Community Improvements 441,980.56

Total Property and Equipment 441,980.56

1590 · Construction in Progress

Engineering 435.00

OPRIC 738,692.00

Rivers Ventana LLC 3,972,866.28

Total 1590 · Construction in Progress 4,711,993.28

Total Fixed Assets 5,153,973.84

TOTAL ASSETS 6,028,509.76

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

2010 · Accounts Payable 62,013.18

Total Accounts Payable 62,013.18

Other Current Liabilities

2022 · Deferred Property Tax Revenue 2,452.61

2030 · Interest Payable 704,143.81

2100 · Payroll Liabilities 2,047.27

Total Other Current Liabilities 708,643.69

Total Current Liabilities 770,656.87

Long Term Liabilities

Accrued Interest OPRIC 766,739.19

Advances from OPRIC 738,692.00

Bonds Payable - CH Metrobonds 4,464,400.00

Total Long Term Liabilities 5,969,831.19

Total Liabilities 6,740,488.06

Equity

3000 · Opening Balance Equity 24,298.52

3910 · Retained Earnings -930,685.19

Net Income 194,408.37

Total Equity -711,978.30

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 6,028,509.76

 Page 1 of 1



 3:58 PM
 10/07/21
 Accrual Basis

 Ventana Metropolitan District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 January through September 2021

TOTAL

Sep 21 Jan - Sep 21 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Developer Advances 0.00 0.00 98,000.00 -98,000.00 0.0%

Treasurer Taxes

1-1400 · Current - O&M 29.05 78,195.58 78,722.61 -527.03 99.33%

1-1500 · Specific Ownership - O&M 897.46 6,181.21 5,510.58 670.63 112.17%

1-1520 · Delinquent Int - O&M -32.95 10.52

2-1000 · Current- Debt 105.86 284,896.85 286,822.70 -1,925.85 99.33%

2-1200 · Specific Ownership - Debt 3,269.78 22,520.48 20,077.59 2,442.89 112.17%

2-1220 · Delinquent Int - Debt 38.35 38.35

Total Treasurer Taxes 4,307.55 391,842.99 391,133.48 709.51 100.18%

1-1000 · Late Fee 120.00 1,925.00 500.00 1,425.00 385.0%

1-1100 · Recreation Center Dues

1-1105 · Ventana Residents 3,747.35 109,192.06 160,000.00 -50,807.94 68.25%

1-1100 · Recreation Center Dues - Other -420.00 945.30

Total 1-1100 · Recreation Center Dues 3,327.35 110,137.36 160,000.00 -49,862.64 68.84%

1-1200 · Trash Service 965.00 42,857.19 68,400.00 -25,542.81 62.66%

1-1300 · Rental Security Deposit 685.00 3,885.00

1-1600 · Park Fee Advance 0.00 3,007.95

1-180 · Covenant Violation Fine 70.00 1,565.09 500.00 1,065.09 313.02%

3-1300 · Park Permit Fee 0.00 1,824.00 72,360.00 -70,536.00 2.52%

Total Income 9,474.90 557,044.58 790,893.48 -233,848.90 70.43%

Expense

Treasurer's Fee

1-1450 · O&M-Treasurer's Collection Fee 0.45 1,173.09 1,180.84 -7.75 99.34%

2-1050 · Debt-Treasurer's Collection Fee 1.65 4,274.03

Total Treasurer's Fee 2.10 5,447.12 1,180.84 4,266.28 461.29%

1-1700 · Audit 0.00 8,400.00 8,300.00 100.00 101.21%

1-1705 · Bank Fees 0.00 0.00 50.00 -50.00 0.0%

1-1900 · Copies & Postage 179.59 3,502.37

1-2000 · Recreation Center

1-2300 · Utilities 476.28 27,048.56 35,000.00 -7,951.44 77.28%

1-2301 · Management/ Operations 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 0.0%

1-2302 · Cleaning Service 1,898.97 13,077.60 16,800.00 -3,722.40 77.84%

1-2305 · Security 966.79 9,424.35 12,000.00 -2,575.65 78.54%

1-2306 · Maintenance/ Repairs 0.00 1,355.00

1-2310 · Supplies 0.00 1,123.25 4,000.00 -2,876.75 28.08%

Total 1-2000 · Recreation Center 3,342.04 52,028.76 72,800.00 -20,771.24 71.47%

1-2001 · Pool Expense

1-2010 · Season Start Up/ Finish 0.00 1,500.00 7,500.00 -6,000.00 20.0%

1-2020 · Chemicals 366.68 4,681.85 8,000.00 -3,318.15 58.52%

1-2030 · Summer Operations 0.00 6,525.00 15,000.00 -8,475.00 43.5%

1-2040 · Water 0.00 165.00 250.00 -85.00 66.0%

1-2050 · Repair/ Maintenance 100.00 830.00 5,000.00 -4,170.00 16.6%

Total 1-2001 · Pool Expense 466.68 13,701.85 35,750.00 -22,048.15 38.33%

 Page 1 of 2



 3:58 PM
 10/07/21
 Accrual Basis

 Ventana Metropolitan District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 January through September 2021

TOTAL

Sep 21 Jan - Sep 21 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

1-6160 · Dues and Subscriptions 0.00 725.05 1,000.00 -274.95 72.51%

1-6180 · Insurance -18.00 806.00 12,500.00 -11,694.00 6.45%

1-6200 · Park/ Landscape

1-6205 · Maintenance 18,784.64 68,537.89 75,000.00 -6,462.11 91.38%

1-6210 · Utilities 16,527.58 56,189.85 60,000.00 -3,810.15 93.65%

Total 1-6200 · Park/ Landscape 35,312.22 124,727.74 135,000.00 -10,272.26 92.39%

1-6490 · Office Supplies 0.00 596.44 3,000.00 -2,403.56 19.88%

1-6610 · Postage and Delivery 9.90 9.90

1-6620 · Rental Security Deposit Refund 400.00 3,200.00

2-6000 · Capital Improvements 13,343.50 13,343.50

2-6075 · Bond Expense

2-6079 · Formation 0.00 1,920.50

2-6080 · Legal 0.00 9,796.50

Total 2-6075 · Bond Expense 0.00 11,717.00

2-6200 · Interest Expense 0.00 0.00 225,000.00 -225,000.00 0.0%

3-1400 · Construction 0.00 0.00 750,000.00 -750,000.00 0.0%

6560 · Payroll Expenses 2,929.78 32,511.86

6570 · Professional Fees

1-2500 · Trash Service 5,033.00 39,996.44 50,000.00 -10,003.56 79.99%

1-2701 · District Management 2,250.00 20,250.00 27,000.00 -6,750.00 75.0%

1-2705 · VCC - Covenant Enforcement 2,250.00 20,250.00 27,000.00 -6,750.00 75.0%

1-6572 · Legal Fees 0.00 9,151.00 10,000.00 -849.00 91.51%

1-6573 · Engineering O&M 0.00 0.00 500.00 -500.00 0.0%

3-1500 · Construction Management

3-1502 · Project 0.00 0.00 50,000.00 -50,000.00 0.0%

Total 3-1500 · Construction Management 0.00 0.00 50,000.00 -50,000.00 0.0%

3-2702 · Engineering 0.00 0.00 200,000.00 -200,000.00 0.0%

Total 6570 · Professional Fees 9,533.00 89,647.44 364,500.00 -274,852.56 24.6%

Total Expense 65,500.81 360,365.03 1,609,080.84 -1,248,715.81 22.4%

Net Ordinary Income -56,025.91 196,679.55 -818,187.36 1,014,866.91 -24.04%

Other Income/Expense

Other Expense

8010 · Other Expenses 2,271.18 2,271.18 10,000.00 -7,728.82 22.71%

Total Other Expense 2,271.18 2,271.18 10,000.00 -7,728.82 22.71%

Net Other Income -2,271.18 -2,271.18 -10,000.00 7,728.82 22.71%

Net Income -58,297.09 194,408.37 -828,187.36 1,022,595.73 -23.47%

 Page 2 of 2



Income and Expense by Month
January through September 2021

Income
Expense

0

50

100

150

200
$ in 1,000's

Jan21 Feb21 Mar21 Apr21 May21 Jun21 Jul21 Aug21 Sep21

Income Summary
January through September 2021

By Account

70.34%Treasurer Taxes
19.771-1100 · Recreation Center Dues

7.691-1200 · Trash Service
0.701-1300 · Rental Security Deposit
0.541-1600 · Park Fee Advance
0.351-1000 · Late Fee
0.333-1300 · Park Permit Fee
0.281-180 · Covenant Violation Fine

$557,044.58Total



Income and Expense by Month
January through September 2021

Income
Expense

0

50

100

150

200
$ in 1,000's

Jan21 Feb21 Mar21 Apr21 May21 Jun21 Jul21 Aug21 Sep21

Expense Summary
January through September 2021

By Account

34.39%1-6200 · Park/ Landscape
24.726570 · Professional Fees
14.351-2000 · Recreation Center

8.976560 · Payroll Expenses
3.781-2001 · Pool Expense
3.682-6000 · Capital Improvements
3.232-6075 · Bond Expense
2.321-1700 · Audit
1.50Treasurer's Fee
0.971-1900 · Copies & Postage
2.10Other

$362,636.21Total



 



614 N. Tejon St.           Colorado Springs, CO  80903 719.447.1777 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: VENTANA METROPOLITAN DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FROM: REBECCA HARDEKOPF 
SUBJECT: MONTHLY MANAGERS REPORT FOR OCTOBER 13, 2021 MEETING 
DATE: OCTOBER 6, 2021 
CC: KEVIN WALKER 

BOARD PACKET 
 
Management matters 

• Monthly newsletter went out October 4, 2021 (attached) 
 
Recreation Center Update 

• Pool Closed 
• Recreation Center Operations 

 
Landscape Maintenance Status/ Review 

• Filing 6 turnover – waiting on update from Challenger’s approval from City of Fountain 
 
VCC Matters 

• Violations issued to date 2021: 
o 532 Violations have been issued to date. 
o 45 violations remain open, receiving fines. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
List of Possible Capital Improvements 
Based on survey response these are requested improvements for the community and Board 
Members response (ongoing support into cost analysis) 



614 N. Tejon St.           Colorado Springs, CO  80903 719.447.1777 
 

 
Improvement Item Board 

Approval 
Cost Estimate (*not 

including labor) 
Proposal Status 

Drainage Engineer Already in 
process 

(*need proposal from 
Contractor) 

Kevin is working with 
Engineer 

Offer “sign-up” 
service to maintain 
front properties while 
they are deployed 

In Favor (*need proposal from 
Contractor) 

Pending quote from 
landscaper 

Agility course along 
trail 

Requested 
quote 

(*need proposal from 
Contractor) 

Pending quote from 
landscaper 

Shade for Park Requested 
quote 

$5,000 - $20,000 + (*need 
proposal from Contractor) 

Pending quote from 
contractor 

Storage for Pool items 
in winter 

Requested 
quote 

$5,000 - $20,000 + any 
permits with the City/ 
County 

Received response 
and Developer will 
plan on this 
improvement  

Sauna Requested 
quote 

$5,000 - $10,000 + (*need 
proposal from Contractor) 

Postpone until District 
has funding 

Bubble building over 
Pool/ Spa to keep 
open year-round 

Look into 
further 

$5,000 - $20,000 +(*need 
proposal from Contractor) 

Postpone until District 
has funding 

Upgrade Security 
Camera system 

Requested 
Quote 

 Pending quote from 
contractor 
(DataVoice) 

 
 
 
 



QUOTE NUMBER
1937
DATE
June 23, 2021
VALID UNTIL
October 31, 2021 at 11:21AM

FROM
Data Voice Options Quotes
Data Voice Options, LLC
8605 Explorer Drive Suite 250
Colorado Springs, CO 80920
www.datavoiceoptions.com
PHONE
720-900-1111

FOR
Ventana Metropolitan District
TO
Rebecca Hardekopf
EMAIL
rebecca.h@wsdistricts.co

Ventana
Clubhouse
Camera
System
Upgrade

CAMERA
SYSTEM
and
CABLE
HARDWARE

HW-LV-CAT6-PLN

CAT6E Plenum 23/4PR CMP 550mhz 1000ft spool

392.00
x 1

392.00

HW-LV-KSTN-CAT6

CAT6 Keystone Jack RJ45 Ethernet Connector

5.20
x 4

15% discount
17.68

HW-LV-CABLE-HW

Cabling hardware for OSHA requirements, cable management and cable pathway

50.00
x 1.5

75.00

DAH-NVR-16CH

Dahua - 16Ch. Smart H.265+ and H.264 Dual Codecs
Maximum 320 Mbps Incoming Bandwidth
Up to 12 MP Resolution for Preview and Playback
Ports 1 to 8 Support ePoE and EoC Signal Transmission, up to 800 m (2524 ft)
HDMI and VGA Simultaneous Video Output
Intelligent Video System

829.00
x 1

20% discount
663.20

http://www.datavoiceoptions.com/
mailto:rebecca.h@wsdistricts.co


DAH-4MP-TRT

The 4 MP mini turret camera features an advanced 1/3-in.
Progressive-scan imager with a 2.8 mm fixed lens. The camera offers
True Wide Dynamic Range, a True Day/Night IR Cut filter, IP67 Ingress
Protection and operation in extreme temperatures to deliver superior
images in all lighting and environmental conditions.

110.00
x 3

330.00

DAH-5MP-FISH

2592 x 1944 Resolution at 30 fps
1.4mm Fixed Lens
360° Horizontal Field of View
Two-Way Audio
Supports microSD Cards up to 256GB
Complies with ONVIF Profiles G, S & T
IP67 Rated for Outdoor Use
IK10-Rated Vandal Resistance

384.57
x 1

10% discount
346.11

DAH-CAM-MNT

Dahua camera mount kit.

38.00
x 4

20% discount
121.60

HW-LV-MISC

Low-Voltage related hardware purchase
8 TB NVR Harddrive

316.67
x 1

10% discount
285.00

Subtotal 2,230.59

CAMERA
SYSTEM
and
CABLE
LABOR

SVC-LV-ETH-DMARC-FIN

Ethernet Cat5e/6 cabling run for DEMARC and unfinished surface. Professionally installed using
necessary hardware per OSHA standards. All cabling allows for at least a six-inch service loop and is
tested for continuity.

190.00
x 4

760.00

SVC-SEC-CAM

"Configuration of Camera and Mount
- Mount camera junction box
- Mount camera into junction box with weatherproof sleeve
- Confirm network connectivity
- Set IP and network configuration
- Set VLAN where applicable
- Adjust camera angle and 'noise'
- Add camera to NVR system"

125.00
x 4

25% discount
375.00



SVC-SEC-NVR

Configuration of NVR System
- Mount NVR equipment
- Set user credentials
- Set IP and network configuration
- Set VLAN where applicable
- Open ports for user accessibility
- Configure recording times, camera layout, users/permissions
- Update firmware
- Adjust view of cameras
- Setup remote terminals
- Work with user(s) to setup access via phone/tablet app

1,250.00
x 1

50% discount
625.00

Subtotal 1,760.00

Subtotal, includes discount of 1,019.45 3,990.59
Tax 8.25% 184.02

Total
including
tax $4,174.61



Ventana Metropolitan District 
614 North Tejon St, Colorado Springs, CO 80903 

(719) 447- 1777 

 
Monthly Newsletter 

October 4, 2021 
 

Walker Schooler District Managers is the Manager of the Ventana Metropolitan District and is authorized to enforce the 
recorded community covenants for Ventana as well as all the Rules and Regulations at the Recreation Center.   

** Copies of the Covenants, Rules, Bylaws, Resolutions are available on the Ventana Metropolitan District website 
(www.ventanamd.colorado.gov)** 

 
Ventana Community Concerns: 
 
Autopay Sign up: 

• If you are interested in signing up for Autopay, please complete the form online at 
https://form.jotform.com/210387584903057. 

 
Dogs and Fence/ Property Lines: 

• Please be cautious if you have a large breed dog(s) and the condition of your fence: 
o If you have a large breed dog(s), that are able to bend or break the vinyl fence as others walk the 

neighborhood, please have proper precautions in place to help prevent this incident from occurring.  
o If you have a fence line that jolts down to allow dogs less than the typical 5 feet to jump a fence, please 

take proper precaution to help prevent an incident from occurring. 
• Please be courteous while walking your dog and make sure you clean up after your pet if they are in your 

neighbor’s yard. 
 
Snow Removal Responsibility: 

• Residents are responsible for maintaining the sidewalk area between their property and the public street.  The 
Ventana Metropolitan District is responsible for snow removal in front of mailboxes, the sidewalk area around 
Recreation Center, and concrete sidewalks for the park.  

 
Recreation Center/ Pool News Update: 
 
Pool Operations: 

• Pool and Spa are Closed as of September 7, 2021. 
• All guests will be charged at $5 per person. 

 
Ventana Community Covenant Reminders: 
 
Welcoming Fall!  As the summer season cools off in Ventana, we want to send a friendly reminder to 
make sure your neighborhood is ready for the cooler temperatures. 
 
We provide a regular inspection community service to ensure covenant compliance.  As you are busy getting your own 
houses and yards in shape, we want to remind you of some of the covenants that are intended to ensure the quality, value, 
desirability, and attractiveness of all property within the Community.   
 

• Please be sure to prep your irrigation systems for the cooler weather, and make sure weeds are taken care of to avoid 
tumble weeds rolling through the neighborhood. As always you can reference the Design Guidelines and CCR’s 
online to make sure you stay in compliance. 

 
Overview of Violations: 

http://www.ventanamd.colorado.gov/
https://form.jotform.com/210387584903057


Ventana Metropolitan District 
614 North Tejon St, Colorado Springs, CO 80903 

(719) 447- 1777 

• Violations issued to date 2021: 
o 532 Violations have been issued to date. 
o 45 violations remain open, receiving fines. 

 
 
Ventana Metropolitan District: 
 
2021 Board Meetings: 

• Next scheduled Board Meeting is: 
o October 13, 2021 at 10:00 am via teleconference: 

You may join the meeting from your computer, tablet or smartphone. 
https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/622480501  

You can also dial in using your phone:  
United States: +1 (646) 749-3129  

Access Code: 622-480-501 
• Board Meetings are regularly scheduled to be held on the 2nd Wednesday of every month at the Recreation Center 

within the Community at 10:00 am. Please visit the website in case of any meeting cancellations as meetings may 
be canceled from time to time. 

 
2022 Board Elections (visit the website Election Info page for details): 

• If you are interested in being on the Ventana Metropolitan District Board, self-nominations can be submitted to 
the DEO between 1/1/2022 – 2/26/2022. 

o You must be a Colorado Registered voter AND either live within the district boundaries, own property 
within the district boundaries, or be the spouse of a property owner. 

 
2021 – 3rd Quarter Billing Highlights: 

• 3rd Quarter bills went out on 7/7/2021. 
• 76 Reminder Letters were sent on 8/2/2021. 
• 18 Collection Letters were sent on 9/2/2021. 
• 11 New Liens filed. 
• 6 Original Liens remain in effect. 

 
Billing: 

• All Ventana Residents are billed on a quarterly basis that consists of $135 per quarter.  The breakdown of the cost 
of dues are $45 per quarter for Trash service (this includes one bin for trash and one bin for recycle) and $90 per 
quarter for Recreation Center Dues. If you have opted to add an additional Trash bin your trash service cost is $54 
per quarter. 

 
Landscaping: 

• Filing 6 tracts are still the Developers responsibility to maintain, and the responsibility will transfer next Spring. 
 
 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding the Ventana Metropolitan District, please feel free to contact our 
office at (719)447-1777. 
 

 
Thank you for your attention to this letter! 
Walker Schooler District Managers 
 

https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/622480501


 



DRAFT: 10/4/2021 

Ventana Service Plan Amendment 10/2021 
   
 

Deleted: 8/11/21

Deleted: 8

 

 

 

 

 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 
SERVICE PLAN 

FOR 
VENTANA METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

CITY OF FOUNTAIN, COLORADO 

 

 [DATE] 

[APPROVAL DATE (ON FINAL SERVICE PLAN)] 



DRAFT: 10/4/2021 

Ventana Service Plan Amendment 10/2021 
   
 

Deleted: 8/11/21

Deleted: 8

ORGANIZERS AND CONSULTANTS 

This Service Plan has been prepared by the Organizers and the following participating 
consultants: 

Organizer 

Rivers Ventana, LLC 
Attn: Brian Bahr                    
8605 Explorer Dr. 
Colorado Springs, CO 80920 
Phone: (719) 598-5190  
Fax: (719) 598-5194 
Email: brian@gorivers.com 
 

Current District Counsel 
 
Susemihl, McDermott and Cowan, PC 
Attn:  Peter Susemihl 
660 Southpointe Ct #210  
Colorado Springs, CO 80906 

 

District Manager 
 
Walker Schooler District Managers 
Attn: Kevin Walker 
614 North Tejon St.  
Colorado Springs, CO  80903 
 

Engineer 
 
Drexel Barrell & Co. 
Attn:  Tim McConnell                   
3 S. 7th Street 
Colorado Springs, CO 80905 
Phone: (719) 260-0887 
Fax: (719) 260-8352 
 

Financial Advisor 
 
D.A. Davidson & Co. 
Attn: Kyle Thomas 
1550 Market Street, Suite 300 
Denver, CO 80202 
Phone: (303) 764-5759 
Email: kbthomas@dadco.com 

 

 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 i  
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The service plan for the Ventana Metropolitan District (the “District”) was adopted on 
February 22, 2006 to serve the needs of the Ventana Subdivision (such service plan being referred 
to herein as the “Original Service Plan”).  Due to certain economic conditions and other factors, 
the Ventana Subdivision as originally planned in 2006 was never developed.  Since 2006, the plans 
for the Ventana Subdivision, and the resulting needs of District taxpayers, have substantially 
changed based on approvals by the City of Fountain.  This Amended and Restated Service Plan 
substantially amends the District’s Original Service Plan to reflect the same.  

The District is generally located at Old Pueblo Road and Hidden Prairie Parkway in the 
City of Fountain, Colorado, and contains approximately 150.9409 acres.  The District will include 
approximately 650 residential units and 18,000 square feet of inline retail use.   

The District will have a single district structure.  This structure will allow the District to 
control both financing and services. 

The District shall be authorized to provide the following services: water, storm sewer, 
wastewater, street improvements, traffic safety protection, parks and recreation (including, without 
limitation, a 13.1-acre park, community center, fitness center and a pool and approximately 12,000 
linear feet of trails), mosquito control, security, trash services and covenant enforcement/design 
review services.  Except as necessary for initial construction, the District will not own or operate 
any road, water or wastewater facility, or provide such services without the consent of the City. 

The total authorized principal amount of “Debt” (as defined herein) for the District shall 
be $15,000,000, excluding the principal amount of Debt issued to refund previously issued Debt 
to the extent the principal amount of such refunding Debt does not exceed the original principal 
amount of the Debt refunded.  The only Debt issued by the District as of the date hereof are the 
District’s bond anticipation notes (more particularly described and defined herein as the 
“2015/2017 BANs”) issued in the aggregate principal amount of $4,461,000.  The maximum mill 
levy the District is permitted to impose upon taxable property within the District for payment of 
Debt is 40 mills, subject to adjustment as more particularly provided herein, and the mill levy 
anticipated to be imposed by the District for the payment of Debt in levy year 2021 is 40 mills..  
The maximum mill levy the District is permitted to impose upon taxable property within the 
District for payment of administration, operations, and maintenance costs is 10 mills, subject to 
adjustment as more particularly provided herein, and the mill levy anticipated to be imposed by 
the District for payment of administration, operations, and maintenance costs in levy year 2021 is 
10 mills.  The aggregate mill levy permitted to be imposed by the District for the payment of Debt, 
administration, operations, and maintenance costs is 50 mills, subject to adjustment as more 
particularly provided herein.  At buildout, the ratio of Debt to assessed value within the District is 
anticipated to be less than 110%.    

The District will assess an annual community center fee against each residential unit; the 
fee will initially equal to $360/residential unit.  This fee is necessary to meet the  District’s costs 
of operating and will enable residents to maintain, use and enjoy the park, community center, the 
fitness center and pool as well as planned additions to the rec center.   Non-residents will pay one 
or more community center fees, from time to time determined and assessed, by the District which 
will correspond to the extent, frequency and nature of the use of the community center, fitness 
center and pool.  It is anticipated that, subject to reasonable rules and regulations to be imposed 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 ii  
 

from time to time by the District, the community center, fitness center and pool may be used on a 
daily, monthly or annual basis.  These monies too will help defray the District’s costs of operating, 
and will help enable residents to use and enjoy, the community center, fitness center and pool 

The District will assess a one-time Park Permit Fee (as hereinafter defined) in the initial 
amount of $3,015 per residence and may, from time to time or as needed, increase or decrease the 
per residence fee to meet the needs of the District and to otherwise satisfy and comply with the 
Park Agreement (as hereinafter defined) 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. ASSESSED VALUATION/PROJECTIONS/LAND USE/POPULATION ……1 

II. INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................. 1 
A. Purpose and Intent................................................................................................... 2 
B. Need for the District................................................................................................ 2 
C. District Framework. ................................................................................................ 2 
D. Objective of the City Regarding District’s Service Plan. ....................................... 2 

III. DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................................... 3 

IV. BOUNDARY ...................................................................................................................... 6 

V. POWERS OF THE DISTRICT .......................................................................................... 6 
A. General. ................................................................................................................... 6 
B. Limitation on General Powers. ............................................................................... 8 

VI. DISTRICT SERVICES AND PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ............................................. 9 
A. Services and Public Improvements. ........................................................................ 9 
B. Preliminary Engineering Survey. .......................................................................... 13 

VII. PROPOSED AND EXISTING INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENTS AND 
EXTRATERRITORIAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS ..................................................... 14 

VIII. FINANCIAL INFORMATION ........................................................................................ 14 
A. General. ................................................................................................................. 14 
B. Assumptions. ......................................................................................................... 14 
C. Identification of District Revenue. ........................................................................ 15 
D. Debt Service Mill Levy ......................................................................................... 16 
E. Operation and Maintenance Mill Levy ................................................................. 16 
F. District Expenditures ............................................................................................ 17 
G. Debt ....................................................................................................................... 17 

IX. DEVELOPER ADVANCES AND REIMBURSEMENTS ............................................. 19 

X. ANNUAL REPORT ......................................................................................................... 20 

XI. MODIFICATION OF SERVICE PLAN .......................................................................... 20 

XII. DISCLOSURE STATEMENT ......................................................................................... 20 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 iii  
 

XIII. DISSOLUTION ................................................................................................................ 21 

XIV. STATUTORY FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS ........................................................ 21 



DRAFT: 10/4/2021 

Ventana Service Plan Amendment 10/2021 
   
 

Deleted: 8/11/21

Deleted: 8

EXHIBITS 

 
EXHIBIT A – Legal Description 

EXHIBIT B – Vicinity Map 

EXHIBIT C – District Boundary Map 

EXHIBIT D – Financial Plan 

EXHIBIT E – Operations and Maintenance Financial Plan 

 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 1  
 

I. ASSESSED VALUATION/PROJECTIONS/LAND USE/POPULATION 

The 2020 assessed valuation of the area within the District’s boundary is $7,071,740 and, 
at build out, is expected to be $17,511,598, which amount is expected to be sufficient to reasonably 
discharge the Debt as demonstrated in the Financial Plan.  The estimated residential population at 
build out is expected to be 2,010 persons and the estimated square feet of commercial and industrial 
floor area is expected to be 18,000 square feet.   

Approval of this Service Plan by the City does not imply approval of the development of 
any area within the District, nor does it imply approval of the number of residential units or the 
total site/floor area of commercial or industrial buildings which may be identified in this Service 
Plan or any of the exhibits attached thereto or any of the Public Improvements.  Such approval 
may only be obtained via an approved Site Development Plan or other City of Fountain 
mechanism. 

II. INTRODUCTION 

This Amended and Restated Service Plan (the “Service Plan”) for the Ventana Metro (the 
“District”) is for a Title 32 Metropolitan district organized to serve the public improvement needs 
of the proposed Ventana Subdivision (“Development”).  The District consists of approximately 
150.9409 acres as legally described in Exhibit A and is generally located Old Pueblo Road and 
Hidden Prairie Parkway in the City of Fountain, Colorado as depicted on the Vicinity Map attached 
hereto as Exhibit B.  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Special District Control Act, C.R.S. § 32-1-201, et seq., 
as amended and the Special District Service Plan Approval Policies and Procedures of the City of 
Fountain (“City”), the following items are included in the Service Plan: 

1. A description of the powers granted to and services to be provided by the District; 

2. A general description of the facilities to be constructed and the standards of such 
construction, including a statement of how the facility and service standards of the District are 
compatible with the facility and service standards of the City and any other governmental entity 
that are interested parties; 

3. A general written description of the estimated cost of acquiring land, engineering services, 
legal services, administrative services, initial indebtedness and estimated maximum interest rates 
and discounts, and other major expenses related to the organization and initial operation of the 
District;  

4. A legal description and map of the District’s boundaries and an estimate of population and 
valuation for assessment of the District;  

5. A summary of the estimated costs of the improvements to be financed and acquired or 
constructed by the District;  

6. A preliminary engineering and architectural survey showing how the improvements and 
services are to be provided; 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 2  
 

7. A financial plan showing how District improvements and services are to be financed, 
including the operating revenue derived from property taxes for the first budget year of the District;  

8. Information demonstrating substantial compliance with the City’s Comprehensive 
Development Plan, and any amendments thereto, and any duly adopted county, regional, or state 
long range water quality management plan for the area; 

9. A description of any operation, capital improvement, or other funding or reimbursement 
agreement(s), which it is contemplated the District will enter into, together with a copy of the 
proposed form of agreement(s) that will be used; 

10. A description of any arrangement or intergovernmental agreement, which it is 
contemplated the District will enter into with any other governmental entity with regard to the 
financing and/or provision of public services or improvements, together with a copy of the 
proposed form of agreement(s) to be used. 

A. Purpose and Intent. 

The District is intended to be an independent unit of local government, separate and 
distinct from the City.  Except as may be otherwise provided for by State or local law or this 
Service Plan, the District’s activities are subject to review by the City only as specifically required 
herein or insofar as such activities materially deviate from the requirements of this Service Plan.  
The purpose of the District is to provide certain public services and Public Improvements for the 
Development.  The District initially will finance and oversee the construction of all or a part of 
such Public Improvements.  The District thereafter will operate, maintain, repair and replace the 
Public Improvements except for such Public Improvements that, upon satisfactory completion, are 
transferred to the City or other governmental entity. 

B. Need for the District. 

There is no governmental entity, including the City, located in the immediate 
vicinity of the District that considers it desirable, feasible or practical to undertake the planning, 
design, financing, construction, installation, operation, and maintenance of the Public 
Improvements that will serve the Development.  Formation of the District is therefore necessary 
in order for the Public Improvements to be provided in an economic manner. 

C. District Framework. 

The District will have a single district structure.  This structure will allow the 
District to control both financing and services. 

D. Objective of the City Regarding District’s Service Plan. 

The City’s objective in approving the Service Plan is to authorize the District to 
provide for the planning, design, acquisition, construction, installation, operation, maintenance, 
repair and replacement of the Public Improvements.  With respect to the planning, design, 
acquisition and initial construction and installation of the Public Improvements, the City’s 
objective in approving the Service Plan is to permit the same to be financed through the issuance 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 3  
 

of Debt by the District.  All Debt is expected to be repaid by taxes imposed and collected by the 
District at a property tax mill levy rate no higher than the Maximum Debt Mill Levy.  Debt which 
is secured by ad valorem property taxes not in excess of the Maximum Debt Mill Levy and within 
the other parameters applicable thereto (as further described in the Section VIII hereof) will 
insulate property owners from excessive tax burdens to support servicing of the Debt and will 
result in a timely and reasonable discharge of the Debt.  Under no circumstances is the City 
financially responsible for the Debt or any other District activities. 

With respect to the operation, maintenance, repair and replacement of the Public 
Improvements the City’s objective in approving the Service Plan is to permit the same to be 
financed in whole or in part through property tax revenues to be imposed through an operation and 
maintenance mill levy and fees, as more particularly described in Section VIII of the Service Plan. 

This Service Plan is intended to establish a limited purpose for the District with 
explicit financial constraints that are not to be violated under any circumstances.  The primary 
purpose is to provide for the Public Improvements associated with the Development and those 
regional improvements necessitated by the Development.  The District is expected to fund ongoing 
operation and maintenance activities with respect to those Public Improvements that will remain 
the property of the District.  In no case shall the mill levy imposed by the District for Debt service 
and operation and maintenance functions, however, exceed the Maximum Aggregate Mill Levy. 

This Service Plan is also intended to facilitate the dissolution of the District, if the 
City determines that the District is unnecessarily duplicating facilities or services within the City.  
If the City, for whatever reason, should request that the District dissolve, the District’s Board of 
Directors shall to the fullest extent practical comply with such request.  Further, the District shall 
dissolve at the request of the City if the City or some other public entity will continue the District’s 
services and facilities and the other requirements for dissolution as set forth in the Act are satisfied.  

No Debt shall be issued by the District having a final stated maturity date that is 
more than thirty (30) years from the date of issuance of such Debt (the “Maximum Maturity”).  
Further, except as provided in Section VIII(G), all Debt issued by the District pursuant to this 
Service Plan shall be fully paid or discharged no later than December 7, 2055.  The City intends, 
to the fullest extent possible that, as a result of the formation and operation of the District, no 
taxable property bears a tax burden imposed by the District that is greater than the Maximum 
Aggregate Mill Levy, even under bankruptcy or other unusual situations.  The costs of Public 
Improvements that cannot be funded within these parameters are not costs to be paid by the District 
and will be funded by the owner/developer. 

III. DEFINITIONS 

In this Service Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated below, unless 
the context clearly requires otherwise: 

Act:  means the Special District Act, Article 1 of Title 32 of the Colorado Revised Statutes. 

Board: means the board of directors of the District. 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 4  
 

Bond, Bonds or Debt:  means any bond, note, debenture, contract or other multi-year 
financial obligation of a District payable in whole or in part from ad valorem taxes, bond proceeds 
or any other revenues of the District.  For the avoidance of doubt, “Debt” does not include any 
obligation the payment of which is subject to annual appropriation by the District (such as the 
2006/2007 Reimbursement Agreements (as defined herein)) or the Park Agreement, but “Debt” 
does include the 2015/2017 BANs (as defined herein).    

City:  means the City of Fountain, Colorado. 

City Council:  means the City Council of the City. 

Control Act:  means part 2 of Title 32 (the “Act”) which outlines review procedures for 
Service Plans for a special district. 

Developer:  means the owner of the property that is being developed and which will receive 
public services and facilities from the District. 

Development:  means the development or property commonly referred to as Ventana 
Subdivision. 

District:  means the Ventana Metropolitan District. 

District Boundaries:  means the boundaries of the area described in the legal description 
attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

District Boundary Map:  means the map attached hereto as Exhibit C showing the 
District’s boundaries. 

Financial Advisor:  means a consultant that:  (1) advises Colorado governmental entities 
on matters relating to the issuance of securities by Colorado governmental entities, including 
matters such as the pricing, sales and marketing of such securities and the procuring of bond 
ratings, credit enhancement and insurance in respect of such securities; (2) shall be an underwriter, 
investment banker, or individual listed as a public finance advisor in the Bond Buyer’s Municipal 
Market Place or a financial consultant who has prepared financial plans for more than 20 special 
district bond issues; and (3) is not an officer or employee of the District or the Developer of the 
Project and has not otherwise been engaged to provide services in connection with the transaction 
related to the applicable Debt.  The City may, in its discretion, waive some or all of the 
requirements that must otherwise be satisfied to comply with the definition of Financial Advisor 
as set forth herein.   

Financial Plan:  means the Financial Plan described in Section VIII and attached as Exhibit 
D, which describes: (a) how the Public Improvements are to be financed with District debt service; 
(b) how the Debt is expected to be incurred and repaid; and (c) the estimated operating revenue 
derived from property taxes for the first and subsequent budget years as shown in Exhibit E. 

Fountain Municipal Code:  means the City of Fountain Municipal Code and any 
regulations, rules, standards, specifications, or policies promulgated thereunder, as the same may 
be amended from time to time. 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 5  
 

General Obligation Bond:  means bonds or other obligations the payment of which is 
backed by the District’s obligation to impose an ad valorem property tax mill levy. 

Maximum Aggregate Mill Levy:  means the sum of the Maximum Debt Levy and the 
Maximum Operations and Maintenance Mill Levy as set forth in Section VIII below. 

Maximum Debt Authorization:  means the maximum principal amount of Debt that the 
District is permitted to issue pursuant to this Service Plan (excludings refundings as more 
particularly provided herein), notwithstanding that the District may have obtained electoral 
authorization for a greater amount of Debt.  

Maximum Debt Mill Levy:  means the maximum mill levy the District is permitted to 
impose upon taxable property within the District for payment of Debt as set forth in Section VIII 
below. 

Maximum Operations and Maintenance Mill Levy:  means the maximum mill levy the 
District is permitted to impose upon taxable property within the District for payment of 
administration, operations, and maintenance costs as set forth in Section VIII below. 

Original Service Plan: means that certain Service Plan for Ventana Metropolitan District 
dated February 22, 2006 pursuant to which the District has been operating prior to the City’s 
approval of this Service Plan, as hereinafter defined. 

Overlapping District: shall have the meaning in Section V.B.1 below. 

Park Agreement:  means that certain Park and Open Space Dedication Credit Agreement 
with an effective date of August 14, 2014 by and among the City, Rivers Ventana, LLC, Firstier 
Bank Nebraska, and the District. 

Park Permit Fee: shall have the meaning ascribed thereto as in Section VI.A.6. below. 

Preliminary Engineering Survey:  means the Preliminary Engineering Survey described in 
Section VI (B). 

Public Improvements:  means the improvements, facilities, streets, squares, parks, public 
ways, ground, open space, buildings, structures or utilities authorized to be planned, designed, 
acquired, constructed, installed, relocated, redeveloped and financed by the District subject to and 
in accordance with this Service Plan and the Act. 

Service Plan:  means this Amended and Restated Service Plan for the District as approved 
by the City Council. 

Service Plan Amendment:  means any amendment of this Service Plan approved by the 
City Council in accordance with the Control Act. 

Site Development Plan:  means a Site Development Plan as defined in Section 17.140 of 
the Fountain Municipal Code and shall include, where applicable, a final plat, or as may be 
amended from time to time.   



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 6  
 

State: means the State of Colorado. 

TABOR:  means Article X, Section 20 of the State Constitution, as may be amended from 
time to time. 

2006/2007 Reimbursement Agreements: means, collectively, (i) a Financing and 
Reimbursement Agreement dated effective May 16, 2006, between the District and Old Pueblo 
Road Investment Company LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (“Old Pueblo Road”), as 
amended by a First Amendment thereto dated effective May 17, 2006, and (ii) a Reimbursement 
Agreement dated effective December 18, 2007, between the District and Old Pueblo Road. 

2015/2017 BANs: means the Bond Anticipation Notes issued by the District in the 
aggregate principal amount of $4,464,000, pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Board of 
Directors of the District on December 3, 2015.  

IV. BOUNDARY 

The area within the District Boundaries includes approximately 150.9409 acres.  At this 
time, the District does not anticipate including any additional property within its boundaries.  A 
legal description of the District Boundaries is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

All of the property within the District Boundaries is owned by Rivers Ventana, LLC or its 
successors.  It is anticipated that the District’s Boundaries may change from time to time as the 
boundaries undergo inclusions and exclusions of territory pursuant to Section 32-1-401, et seq., 
C.R.S., and Section 32-1-501, et seq., C.R.S., subject to the limitations set forth in Section V 
below. 

V. POWERS OF THE DISTRICT 

A. General. 

Subject to the limitations contained in this Service Plan, the District shall have the power 
and authority to acquire, construct and install the Public Improvements within the District’s 
boundary, as such power and authority exists under the Act, as the same now exists, as well as 
under other applicable statutes, common law and the Colorado Constitution. 

If, after the Service Plan is approved, the State General Assembly grants new or broader 
powers for Title 32 special districts, no such powers shall be deemed to be a part hereof and 
available to or able to be exercised by the District except to the extent approved by the City.  Such 
approval shall not constitute a material modification of this Service Plan. 

1. Operations and Maintenance Limitation.  The purpose of the District is to 
plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, operate, maintain, and finance the Public 
Improvements.  Developer intends to design and construct the Public Improvements in several 
phases. Once each phase of Public Improvements has been constructed, and subject to certain 
terms and conditions contained in this Service Plan, the District intends to purchase the completed 
Public Improvements from Developer.  The District shall operate, maintain, repair and replace all 
Public Improvements not conveyed by the District to the City or other appropriate governmental 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 7  
 

entity.  By way of explanation and not limitation, all Public Improvements conveyed to the City 
shall be conveyed at no cost or expense to the City and must, first be accepted by the City after 
inspection and completion to the City’s satisfaction of all defects or punch list items.  All Public 
Improvements conveyed to the City shall be subject to a two-year warranty against defects in 
construction and materials.  Notwithstanding that some Public Improvements may be designated 
for operation and maintenance by the District, nothing herein contained shall prevent the City, at 
its discretion and at its sole option, from acquiring or taking title to such Public Improvement. 

2. Development Standards.  The District will ensure that the Public 
Improvements are designed and constructed in accordance with the standards and specifications 
of the City and of other governmental entities having jurisdiction thereover.  The District directly 
or indirectly through the Developer will obtain the City’s approval of construction plans and will 
obtain applicable permits for construction and installation of Public Improvements prior to 
performing such work.  In the discretion of the City, the District shall post a surety bond, letter of 
credit, or other approved development security for any Public Improvements to be constructed by 
the District, as provided in the Fountain Municipal Code.  Any limitation or requirement 
concerning the time within which the City must review a District proposal or application for an 
approved Site Development Plan or other land use approval is hereby waived by the District.   

3. Minor Deviations from Service Plan.  This Service Plan is general in nature 
and does not include specific detail in some instances because development plans have not been 
finalized.  The Service Plan has been designed with sufficient flexibility to enable the District to 
provide required services and facilities under evolving circumstances without the need for 
numerous amendments.  Minor changes to the services and facilities of the District as described in 
this Service Plan including changes in proposed configurations, locations or dimensions of the 
Public Improvements shall be permitted to accommodate development needs, but only if consistent 
with an approved Site Development Plan wherein such services and/or Public Improvements are 
described.  

The District shall be an independent unit of local government, separate and distinct 
from the City, and its activities are subject to review by the City only insofar as they may deviate 
in a material manner from the requirements of the Service Plan.  If the District at any time 
contemplates any activity, facility or service that is not expressly identified in this Service Plan, 
the District may seek a determination from the City that such activity, service or facility does not 
constitute a material modification of this Service Plan.  The procedure for seeking such 
determination shall be the same as that set forth in Section V(A)(4) below for obtaining City 
approval, generally. 

4. City Approval – How Obtained.  Whenever this Service Plan allows, 
provides for, or requires approval by the City of any matter, such approval may be obtained from 
the City Manager.  The District may, in writing, seek approval from the City Manager.  The City 
Manager shall make a written determination within sixty (60) days of receipt of the approval 
request.  In the event the City Manager fails to act within such period of time, the request shall be 
deemed denied; however, nothing herein contained shall prevent the District from appealing the 
Manager’s determination directly to the City Council, which appeal must be taken within thirty 
(30) days of the date the request is denied or deemed denied.  Nothing herein contained shall 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 8  
 

prevent the City Manager from referring any approval request received from the District directly 
to the City Council for determination. 

B. Limitation on General Powers. 

Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Service Plan to the contrary 
the District’s general powers shall be limited by and shall be exercised subject to the following 
limitations: 

1. Location of Services and Public Improvements.  The District shall have the 
power and authority to provide the services and Public Improvements described in this Service 
Plan only within its boundary.  Only to the limited extent provided in this Service Plan may the 
District provide services and Public Improvements outside of its boundary.  All services and Public 
Improvements shall be provided in accordance with all City and District standards and 
specifications and all applicable standards and specifications of any existing special district that 
the District will overlap such as, but not limited to, the Fountain Sanitation District (collectively 
the “Overlapping Districts” and singularly an “Overlapping District”); provided, however, that 
in the event of a conflict or inconsistency, the City’s standards and specifications shall control 
unless the conflict or inconsistency is solely between the District and one or more Overlapping 
District in which case the standards and specifications of the Overlapping District(s) shall control. 

2. Property Acquisition.  The District shall not purchase from or reimburse the 
Developer or its successors and assigns for any land, easements, licenses, water rights or property 
that the Developer, in the absence of the District’s formation, would be required to dedicate and 
convey to the City at no cost. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District desires to purchase the 
completed Public Improvements from Developer.  (The Public Improvements – by definition – do 
not include any land, easements, licenses, water rights or property that the Developer, in the 
absence of the District’s formation, would be required to dedicate and convey to the City at no 
cost.)  Any such purchase or reimbursement by the District not contemplated herein shall constitute 
a material modification of this Service Plan. 

3. Eminent Domain.  The District shall not exercise its statutory power of 
eminent domain, except as may be necessary to construction, install, access, relocate or redevelop 
any District financed Public Improvements identified in a Site Development Plan for an approved 
development that will be served by the District.  Any exercise of the power of eminent domain by 
the District shall be in strict compliance with state law.  Any exercise of the power of eminent 
domain not expressly authorized in this Service Plan must be approved in advance in writing by 
the City.  

4. Inclusion/Exclusion of Territory.  Except as expressly authorized in this 
Service Plan, the District shall not enlarge, reduce or in any way change its territorial boundary by 
the inclusion or exclusion of property pursuant to Sections 32-1-401 and 32-1-501, C.R.S., the Act 
without obtaining prior written approval of the City.  

5. Additional Facilities and Services.  Construction of any facilities and/or the 
provision of any service not generally contemplated or described in this Service Plan, without the 
prior written approval of the City, shall constitute a material modification hereof. 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 9  
 

6. Location and Extent Limitation.  The District shall not utilize or attempt to 
utilize Section 31-23-309, C.R.S., or any other law, for the purposes of overriding or attempting 
to avoid compliance with the Fountain Municipal Code or any other City regulations. 

7. Consolidation.  The District shall not take any action to consolidate, 
pursuant to the Act, or otherwise, or to enter into any agreement, form an authority, or in any way 
delegate to any other entity, the management, operation, and administration of the District without 
the prior approval of the City.  Any such actions shall at the City’s sole discretion be deemed a 
material modification of this Service Plan. 

8. Monies from Other Governmental Sources.  The District shall not apply for 
or accept Conservation Trust Funds, Great Outdoors Colorado Funds, or other funds available 
from or through governmental or non-profit entities for which the City is eligible to apply, except 
as approved by the City.  This Section shall not apply to specific ownership taxes which may be 
received by the District in accordance with state law. 

VI. DISTRICT SERVICES AND PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS  

A. Services and Public Improvements. 

The District shall have the authority to provide the public services and Public 
Improvements described in this section: 

1. Water 

The District shall have the power and authority to finance, design, construct, install, 
maintain, and provide for a potable water distribution system for the Development consisting of, 
but not limited to, transmission lines, distribution mains, laterals, storage facilities, pumping 
facilities, and easements and appurtenant facilities.  Potable water will be supplied by the City.  
All potable public water improvements upon completion and acceptance by the District shall be 
conveyed to the City or applicable Overlapping District, subject to normal and customary 
acceptance requirements and warranties of the City or the Overlapping District, as the case may 
be.  Private service lines shall not be financed by the District and shall be owned, operated and 
maintained by the owner of the property served.  Except for financing and/or constructing potable 
water transmission lines, distribution mains, pumping and storage facilities and related 
appurtenances, the District shall have no authority to operate a potable water system or otherwise 
provide any of the potable water services provided by the City or applicable Overlapping District, 
without first obtaining the written consent of the City or the Overlapping District.   

The District shall also have the power and authority to finance, design, construct, 
acquire, install, maintain and provide a non-potable water irrigation system for the Development, 
including, but not limited to, water supply, treatment, storage, and transmission and distribution 
systems for irrigation purposes.  However, notwithstanding any other provision contained in this 
Service Plan to the contrary, the District shall not appropriate, purchase, lease or otherwise acquire 
any water or water rights or water supplies for any purpose including non-potable water use 
purposes for use within or without the District’s boundaries, without first obtaining the prior 
written approval of the City, which may be withheld for any reason. 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 10  
 

2. Storm Sewer 

The District shall have the power and authority to finance, design, construct, 
acquire, install, maintain, and provide for flood and surface drainage improvements, including, but 
not limited to, culverts, dams, retaining walls, access way inlets, detention and retention ponds, 
paving, roadside swales, curbs and gutters, disposal works and facilities, water quality facilities, 
and all necessary and proper equipment, with all necessary and incidental and appurtenant 
facilities, land and easements, together with extensions and improvements thereto.  Unless 
accepted by the City, all storm drainage improvements shall be owned, operated, maintained, 
repaired and replaced by the District.  

3. Wastewater 

The District shall have the power and authority to finance, design, construct, 
acquire, install, and maintain a complete wastewater collection and transmission system, 
consisting of, but not limited to, collection mains, laterals, transmission lines, and pumping 
facilities and all necessary, incidental and appurtenant facilities, land and easements.  Private 
service lines shall not be financed by the District and shall be owned, operated and maintained by 
the owner of the property served.  Wastewater treatment services will be provided by the applicable 
Overlapping District and the wastewater improvements constructed and/or financed by the District 
will be conveyed to the applicable Overlapping District for ownership and maintenance, subject 
to and in accordance with the applicable Overlapping District’s procedures and requirements for 
acceptance of such facilities and improvements.  Except for financing and/or constructing the 
wastewater collection system needed to serve the Development, the District shall not have the 
authority to operate a wastewater collection system or offer services otherwise provided by the 
applicable Overlapping District without first obtaining the consent of the City and the applicable 
Overlapping District. 

4. Street Improvements 

The District shall have the power and authority to finance, design, construct, 
acquire, install, maintain, and provide for arterial and collector streets and roadway improvements 
including, but not limited to, bridges, curbs, gutters, culverts, storm sewers and drainage facilities, 
detention and retention ponds, retaining walls and appurtenances, sidewalks, paving, lighting, 
grading, landscaping, streetscaping, placement of underground utilities, and other street related 
improvements, and architectural enhancements to any or all of the above, with all necessary and 
incidental and appurtenant facilities, land and easements, together with extensions and 
improvements thereto. 

Arterial and collector streets shall be conveyed, upon satisfactory completion and 
final acceptance by the District, and subject to satisfaction of all applicable City acceptance 
requirements and procedures including warranties, to the City for future operation and 
maintenance.  Any street related medians and landscaping, together with entrance features, will be 
owned and maintained by the District unless the same are specifically accepted by the City and 
conveyed to the City for operation and maintenance purposes.  The City will only maintain those 
improvements located within public rights-of-way that are specifically accepted by the City. 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 11  
 

5. Traffic Safety Protection 

The District shall have the power and authority to finance, design, construct, 
acquire, install, maintain, and provide for traffic safety protection through traffic safety control 
devices and safety controls on streets, as well as such other facilities and improvements as are 
necessary or prudent, including, but not limited to, signalization at intersections, traffic signs, area 
identification signs, directional assistance and driver information signs, with all necessary and 
incidental and appurtenant facilities, and land and easements, together with extensions and 
improvements thereto.  All traffic and safety control devices shall be constructed in accordance 
and in compliance with all City rules, standards and specifications.   

Traffic safety control devices and safety controls on streets shall be conveyed, upon 
satisfactory completion and acceptance by the District, and subject to satisfaction of all applicable 
City acceptance requirements and procedures including warranties, to the City for future operation 
and maintenance.  Any signage that is specifically related to the Development or entry features at 
the Development will be owned and maintained by the District unless the same are specifically 
conveyed to and accepted by the City for operation and maintenance purposes.  The City will only 
own and maintain those signage improvements that are within public rights-of-way and that have 
been specifically accepted by the City. 

The City, District and Developer have agreed to a Memorandum of Understanding dated 
December 20, 2019 outlining changes to the 2005 Railway Contribution Agreement between the 
City and the then developer contributions to the Indiana Avenue crossing of the existing railroad.  
The Agreement was assigned to the District and subsequently, a developer contributed $357,600 
to the crossing receiving agreement for reimbursement from the District.  The MOU requires no 
additional contribution from the District to the crossing project. 

6. Parks and Recreation 

The District shall have the power and authority to finance, design, construct, acquire, 
install, maintain, operate, and provide for public park and public recreation centers and other 
recreation facilities (e.g., community center, fitness center and pool), services, or programs 
including, but not limited to, grading, soil preparation, sprinkler systems, fencing, pavilions, 
playgrounds, playing fields, open space, bike trails, pedestrian trail, pedestrian bridges, picnic 
areas, common area landscaping, streetscaping, storage buildings and facilities, weed control, 
paving, decorative paving, outdoor functional and decorative lighting, community events, and 
other services, programs and facilities, with all necessary and incidental and appurtenant facilities, 
land and easements, together with extensions and improvements thereto.  The District’s public 
parks, trails, athletic fields and open space areas, at the option of the City, will be transferred by 
the District to the City free and clear of any liens and encumbrances for future ownership, operation 
and maintenance purposes.  Any and all park and recreation facilities constructed or operated by 
the District will be available to all City residents on the same basis as is available to District 
residents except as otherwise provided herein.    

With respect to the community center, fitness center and pool, the District is authorized to 
assess, from time to time, an annual community center fee against each residential unit; the fee 
will initially equal $360/residential unit per year adjusted annually by the Board to reflect costs of 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 12  
 

services rendered.  The District is further authorized to assess, from time to time, one or more 
community center fees for non-resident users of the community center, fitness center and pool 
which will reflect costs of services rendered and adjusted annually, initially established at $600/ 
year.  The District will inform the City annually of this fee and the basis for the fee amount.  It is 
anticipated that the non-resident user fee(s) will be higher on a per use basis than the annual 
residential fee discussed hereinabove based on the fact that the residents are paying ad valorem 
taxes to retire the debt and for operations and maintenance and outside the District residents will 
not pay such taxes.  In order to make the users contribute equitably for the Center, the fee will be 
higher.  It is anticipated that the non-residential user fees from time to time determined and 
assessed by the District will substantially correspond to the extent, frequency and nature of the use 
of the community center, fitness center and pool.  When the community center, fitness center and 
pool near completion, the District anticipates that it will be in a position to determine the initial 
non-resident user fee amounts.  All of the fees will help defray the District’s costs of operating and 
will help enable residents and non-residents to use and enjoy, the community center, the fitness 
center and pool.  

 
The District shall have the power and authority to enter into and perform under and enforce 

the Park Agreement and to determine and assess, from time to time or as needed typically at the 
issuance of building permit or at the sale of a completed home, a permit fee (“Park Permit Fee”) 
equal to or exceeding that typically charged by the City for park fees (which are typically paid by 
builders) and to allocate and appropriate the proceeds therefrom toward the reimbursement of costs 
associated with the park improvements as further outlined in the Park Agreement (including, 
without limitation, the installation, construction, development, maintenance, repair, and 
replacement thereof).  It is anticipated that the District shall assess a Park Permit Fee in the initial 
amount of $3,015 per residence to meet the needs of the District and to otherwise satisfy and 
comply with the Park Agreement.  The Park Permit Fee is a one-time capital fee collected by the 
District at the initial closing of homes from a builder.  The fee will be used to reimburse the 
developer for Capital Construction Costs incurred in connection with the construction of the 
Recreation Center and other recreational amenities.   Nothing contained in this Service Plan 
amendment shall amend, modify or change, in any way, the Park Agreement. 

 
7. Mosquito Control 

The District shall have the power and authority to finance, design, construct, 
acquire, install, operate, maintain, and provide for systems and methods for elimination and control 
of mosquitoes. 

8. Security 

The District shall have the power and authority to provide security services within 
the boundaries of the District, subject to the limitations set forth in C.R.S. § 32-1-1004(7).  Such 
power and authority, however, shall not limit or in any way abridge the responsibility and authority 
of local law enforcement (i.e., the City of Fountain and/or El Paso County Sheriff’s Department) 
to operate within the boundaries of the District. 

9. Trash Service 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 13  
 

10. The District shall have the power to provide solid waste disposal services 
contemplated in C.R.S. 32-1-103(10)(f), within its territorial boundaries, subject to the 
requirements and limitations set forth in the Act and shall be further subject to the City’s solid 
waste single hauler program, if any, such that if the City implements a City-wide single hauler 
program, the District’s participation in such program shall be required, unless express written 
consent of the City is given exempting the District therefrom Covenant Enforcement and Design 
Review Services 

The District shall also have the power to provide covenant enforcement and design 
review services within its territorial boundaries subject to the requirements and limitations set forth 
in the Act.  The declaration, rules and regulations name the District as the enforcement and design 
review entity; however, said covenant enforcement shall be limited to the District paying for the 
cost of architectural review and covenant enforcement including the collection of enforcement fees 
and charges and for services authorized in the Covenants. 

B. Preliminary Engineering Survey. 

An estimate of the cost of the Public Improvements which may be, designed, 
acquired, constructed, installed, relocated, redeveloped, maintained or financed was set forth in in 
the 2006 Service Plan.  All construction costs estimates assume construction to applicable local, 
state or federal requirements. 

Conceptual drawings showing the preliminary location of the Public Improvements 
that the District is authorized to acquire or construct were approved in the 2006 Service Plan 
adoption and are incorporated herein by reference.  Phasing of construction shall be determined 
by the District to meet the needs of taxpayers within its boundaries.   

Subject to an approved Site Development Plan, the following Public Improvements 
are generally expected to be conveyed as described above to the City or applicable Overlapping 
District for ownership and maintenance purposes: 

1. Street Improvements.  Street Improvements consisting of arterial and local 
collector streets and related improvements except for any subdivision identification signs, median 
and landscaping within medians. 

2. Water Improvements.  Water Improvements consisting of the local 
distribution system constructed and/or financed by the District. 

3. Safety Protection.  All safety protection and traffic control devices located 
on or within public rights of way. 

The following Public Improvements are generally expected to be retained by the 
District: 

1. Storm Sewer.  All storm sewer improvements constructed or financed by 
the District, including but not limited to, culverts, dams, retaining walls, access way inlets, 
detention and retention ponds, paving, roadside swales, etc.   

Deleted: The District shall have the power and authority to 
provide and coordinate trash collection services within the 
boundaries of the District, subject to the limitations set forth in 
C.R.S 32-1-104(2)(k) and 32-1-1006(6).¶



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 14  
 

2. Park and Recreation.  All local public park and recreation facilities 
constructed by the District, including but not limited to pavilions, playgrounds, playing fields, 
open space, bike trails, pedestrian trails, etc.   To the extent applicable, it is anticipated that the 
District shall accept and maintain the applicable park improvements in accordance with the Park 
Agreement. 

The following Public Improvements are generally expected to be conveyed to the 
Fountain Sanitation District for ownership and maintenance purposes: 

• All wastewater improvements, except private service lines which are not to be financed 
or constructed by the District. 

VII. PROPOSED AND EXISTING INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENTS AND 
EXTRATERRITORIAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

All intergovernmental agreements entered into by the District must be for purposes, 
facilities, or services that the District is authorized by law and by this Service Plan to provide.  It 
is contemplated that the District will enter into intergovernmental agreements with the following 
parties and for the following purposes:  None. 

If there are any material changes to any proposed form of intergovernmental agreement or 
if the proposed form of intergovernmental agreement is not available for approval with this Service 
Plan, the form of such intergovernmental agreements must be submitted to the City for approval 
prior to the District in commencing operations or incurring any Debt.   

The following agreements are likely to be necessary, and the rationale therefore is set forth 
as follows:  N/A. 

No other agreements are required or known at the time of formation of the District to 
likely be required to fulfill the purposes of the District.  Execution of intergovernmental 
agreements or agreements for services to be provided by the District beyond the District 
boundaries shall require approval of the City. 

VIII. FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

A. General. 

This section describes the nature, basis, and method of funding for the District 
including the Debt, rates and fees, and mill levy limitations the District shall be subject to.  A 
detailed Financial Plan and statement of assumptions utilized in the preparation of the Financial 
Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit F.  Exhibit F reflects the current rezoning application and land 
uses that may be changed in the future.   

With respect to the community center, fitness center and pool, the District is 
authorized to assess, from time to time, an annual community center fee against each residential 
unit; the fee will initially equal $360/residential unit per year and can be adjusted annually by the 
District Board (so long as the Board has at least three (3) members that are homeowners in the 
District) to a maximum of $540/unit per year adjusted for inflation.  As further discussed 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 15  
 

hereinabove, the District is further authorized to determine and assess, from time to time and on 
terms and conditions satisfactory to the District, one or more community center fees for non-
residential users of the community center, fitness center and pool.  It is anticipated that the non-
residential user fees will correspond to the extent, frequency and nature of the use of the 
community center, fitness center and pool.  The initial annual fee is established at $600 
($50/month). Fees will be used solely to defray the District’s costs of operating the community 
center, fitness center and pool, and will help enable residents and non-residents to use and enjoy 
the community center, the fitness center and pool.  Exhibit E provides a financial plan for the 
operations and maintenance of the District’s assets. 

B. Assumptions. 

The maximum amount of Debt the District is authorized to issue is Fifteen Million 
Dollars ($15,000,000), excluding the principal amount of Debt issued to refund previously issued 
Debt to the extent the principal amount of such refunding Debt does not exceed the original 
principal amount of the Debt refunded.  This Maximum Debt Authorization is based upon the 
assumption that each of the 650 residential units in the District will have an average value of 
$387,000 in 2021 dollars, new development average value of $387,000 and commercial space will 
have an average value of $120 per square foot in 2021 dollars. 

The District expects to issue approximately $11,694,000 in Debt in 2021 and 
expects to issue additional Debt in the future  up to the maximum permitted amount of 
$15,000,000, excluding the principal amount of Debt issued to refund previously issued Debt.  This 
is reflected in Exhibit D.  The exact dates and terms of Debt issuance will be subject to future 
market conditions and service plan restrictions. 

The ratio of Debt to assessed value within the District at build-out is demonstrated 
to be less than 110%.  The Financial Plan demonstrates that the District has the ability to finance 
the Public Improvements identified herein, will be capable of discharging the indebtedness on a 
reasonable basis, and will operate on a sound fiscal basis. 

C. Identification of District Revenue. 

The District will impose a mill levy on taxable property within its boundaries as a 
primary source of revenue for repayment of Debt and for operations and maintenance.  The District 
may also rely upon various other revenue sources authorized by law.  At the District’s discretion, 
these may include the power to assess fees, rates, tolls, penalties or charges as provided for in the 
Act that are reasonably related to the cost of operating and maintaining District services and 
facilities.  In addition to the community center, fitness center and pool fees assessed on residential 
and non-residential users, as further discussed hereinabove, and the one-time Park Permit Fee, as 
defined hereinabove, assessed, from time to time, by the District in accordance with the Park 
Agreement and as authorized under this Service Plan, the District anticipates annual revenue from 
the following sources in the following amounts at buildout: 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 16  
 

Revenue Source  Anticipated Revenue 
Ad Valorem Taxes  $977,104 
Specific Ownership Taxes  $58,626 
Tap Fees  $0 
Development Fees  $0 
   
TOTAL  $1,035,7301 
   

 

The District is permitted to impose ad valorem property taxes for payment of Debt 
and ad valorem property taxes for payment of administration, operations, and maintenance costs 
subject to the limitations provided in Section VIII(D) and Section VIII(E) below, respectively.  
The Maximum Aggregate Mill Levy authorized to be imposed by the District to support Debt 
service and operations and maintenance of the District is the sum of the Maximum Debt Mill Levy 
and the Maximum Operation and Maintenance Mill Levy (i.e., 50 mills, subject to adjustment as 
provided in Section VIII(D) and Section VIII(E) below).   

Any ad valorem property tax levy imposed by the District, including as adjusted as 
provided in Section VIII(D) and Section VIII(E) below, is subject to the availability of appropriate 
electoral authorization therefor, in accordance with TABOR and all other applicable State laws. 

D. Debt Service Mill Levy 

The maximum aggregate mill levy that the District is permitted to impose for the 
payment of Debt (the Maximum Debt Mill Levy) shall be 40 mills; provided that if, on or after 
January 1, 2006, there were or are changes in the method of calculating assessed valuation or any 
constitutionally mandated tax credit, cut, or abatement, the mill levy limitation applicable to such 
Debt may be increased or decreased to reflect such changes, such increases or decreases to be 
determined by the Board in good faith so that to the extent possible, the actual tax revenue 
generated by the mill levy are neither diminished nor enhanced as a result of such changes.  For 
purposes of the foregoing, a change in the percentage of actual valuation used to calculate the 
assessed valuation of any class of property shall be deemed to be a change in the method of 
calculating assessed valuation.,  

 A debt service mill levy of 40 mills (subject to adjustment as described above) is 
anticipated to produce sufficient revenue to support Debt service costs through the bond repayment 
(see Exhibit D, Financial Plan).   

E. Operation and Maintenance Mill Levy 

The maximum aggregate mill levy that the District is permitted to impose for 
payment of administration, operations, and maintenance costs (the Maximum Operation and 
Maintenance Mill Levy) shall be 10 mills; provided that if, on or after January 1, 2006, there were 

 
1 By way of clarification, this anticipated buildout revenue figure occurs in 2024 and does not include residential and non-residential user fees 
imposed, from time to time, by the District for the use and maintenance of the community center, fitness center and pool and does not include the 
Park Permit Fee to be imposed, from to time, by the District per the Park Agreement and this Service Plan. 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 17  
 

or are changes in the method of calculating assessed valuation or any constitutionally mandated 
tax credit, cut, or abatement, the mill levy limitation applicable for payment of administration, 
operations, and maintenance costs, if there is voter authorization to do so, may be increased or 
decreased to reflect such changes, such increases or decreases to be determined by the Board in 
good faith so that to the extent possible, the actual tax revenue generated by the mill levy are 
neither diminished nor enhanced as a result of such changes.  For purposes of the foregoing, a 
change in the percentage of actual valuation used to calculate the assessed valuation of any class 
of property shall be deemed to be a change in the method of calculating assessed valuation.  

An operations and maintenance mill levy of 10 mills (subject to adjustment as 
described above) is anticipated to produce revenue to support the operation and maintenance of 
District services and Public Improvements (see Exhibit D, Financial Plan). 

F. District Expenditures 

The estimated cost of Public Improvements for the District is greater than 
$26,000,000 ($40,000 eligible public improvement costs per lot).  The District will acquire 
operating funds to plan and cause the Public Improvements contemplated herein to be constructed, 
operated and maintained as permitted herein.  Such costs are expected to include reimbursement 
of organizational costs, legal, engineering, accounting, bond issuance costs, and compliance with 
State reporting, and other administrative costs.  Public Improvement costs over the amount 
available for reimbursement from District Debt issuance ($15,000,000) will be funded by 
developer sources of debt and equity. 

G. Debt 

1. Maximum Debt Authorization 

The maximum amount of Debt that may be issued by the District (referred to herein 
as the “Maximum Debt Authorization”) is $15,000,000, inclusive of costs of issuance, 
organizational costs, inflation, and other similar costs, but excluding the principal amount of Debt 
issued to refund previously issued Debt. The Maximum Debt Authorization shall not be increased 
unless approved by the City and as permitted by statute.  Unless approved by the City, any change 
in the District’s Maximum Debt Authorization shall be considered a material modification of this 
Service Plan.  Also, unless approved by the City in accordance with the provision provided for in 
this Service Plan any substantial or material deviations from the bond amortization schedules 
contained in this Financial Plan shall be considered a material modification of this Service Plan.   

No Debt shall be issued by the District having a final stated maturity date that is 
more than thirty (30) years from the date of issuance of such Debt (the “Maximum Maturity”). 

Unless approved by the District’s Board of Directors, which at the time such 
approval is given is composed of at least three homeowners within the District, all Debt issued by 
the District as authorized in this Service Plan shall be paid in full or discharged no later than 
December 7, 2055.   

2. Debt Issuance 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 18  
 

The District anticipates it will issue Debt in the total amount of $15,000,000 
(excluding the principal amount of Debt issued to refund previously issued Debt to the extent not 
in excess of the original principal amount of the Debt refunded), of which, as of the date hereof, 
the District has issued $4,464,000 (comprised of the 2015/2017 BANs).  The first issuance of Debt 
by the District after the date hereof (i.e., excluding the 2015/2017 BANs) shall occur no later than 
five (5) years from the date this Service Plan is approved unless otherwise approved in writing by 
the City.  Except for refunding bonds, no Debt authorized in this Service Plan shall be issued later 
than fifteen (15) years after the date this Service Plan is approved, without the prior written 
approval of the City.  In the regular election held May 2, 2006, the District received initial voter 
approval for Debt issuance in the amount of $15,000,000 for each of five identified infrastructure 
categories, in addition to voter approval for Debt for operation and maintenance costs and 
refundings.  However, notwithstanding any electoral authorization of the District obtained prior to 
or after the date hereof, the Maximum Debt Authorization of the District pursuant to this Service 
Plan is $15,000,000 (excluding refundings as provided herein) .  If the District were to seek 
authority to issue a greater amount of Debt beyond the Maximum Debt Authorization, such request 
shall be deemed a material modification of this Service Plan.  Each series of bonds issued by the 
District shall have a maximum maturity of thirty (30) years. 

3. Maximum Voted Interest Rate and Maximum Underwriting Discount 

The interest rate on any Debt shall be limited to the market rate at the time Debt is 
issued.  In the event of a default, the maximum interest rate on any Debt shall not exceed twelve 
percent (12%) per annum.  The maximum underwriting discount for any Debt issued by the District 
shall not exceed five percent (5%).  Debt, when issued, shall comply with all relevant requirements 
of this Service Plan, State law, and Federal law as is then applicable to the issuance of public 
securities. 

4. Security for Debt. 

The District does not have the authority and shall not pledge any revenue or 
property of the City as security for the Debt.  Approval of this Service Plan shall not be construed 
as a guarantee by the City of payment of any of the District’s obligations; nor shall anything in the 
Service Plan be construed so as to create any responsibility or liability on the part of the City in 
the event of default by the District in the payment or performance of any obligation. 

5. TABOR Compliance.   

The District will comply with the provisions of TABOR.  In the discretion of the 
District’s Board of Directors, and subject to the other limitations contained in this Service Plan, 
the District may set up other qualifying entities to manage, fund, construct and operate facilities, 
services, and programs.  To the extent allowed by law, any entity created by the District will remain 
under the control of the District’s Board. 

6. Privately Placed Debt Limitation. 

Prior to the issuance of any privately placed Debt, the District shall obtain the 
certification of a Financial Advisor substantially as follows: 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 19  
 

We are [I am] a Financial Advisor within the meaning of the District’s Service Plan. 

We [I] certify that (1) the net effective interest rate (calculated as defined in Section 
32-1-103(12), C.R.S.) to be borne by the District for the [insert the designation of the Debt] does 
not exceed a reasonable current [tax-exempt] [taxable] interest rate, using criteria deemed 
appropriate by us [me] and based upon our [my] analysis of comparable high yield securities; and 
(2) the structure of [insert designation of the Debt], including maturities and early redemption 
provisions, is reasonable considering the financial circumstances of the District. 

IX. DEVELOPER ADVANCES AND REIMBURSEMENTS 

The District has previously received, and may in the future receive, initial funding for both 
capital and ongoing administrative expenses from Developer advances.  No agreement, loan or 
other writing evidencing the District’s contingent obligation to repay Developer advances after the 
date of this Amendment shall have a term greater than fifteen (15) years, and any Developer 
advances that are not repaid on or before the fifteen (15) year period provided for herein shall be 
treated as Developer contributions to District capital; provided, however, that the foregoing 
requirement shall not apply to the 2006/2007 Reimbursement Agreements.  Such advances shall 
be made to the District subject to the District’s obligation to reimburse the same, which obligation 
may be evidenced by a short-term reimbursement agreement or other acceptable agreement; 
provided, however, that under all circumstances the District’s obligation to reimburse advances to 
the Developer: (i) shall be subject to annual appropriation and require payment only if, as and 
when the District determines that monies are available and, accordingly, shall not constitute Debt 
hereunder; and (ii) shall be subordinate to the District’s General Obligation Bonds (if any). The 
District’s obligation to reimburse Developer advances may bear interest at a reasonable rate of 
interest, as evidenced by a certificate of a Financial Advisor, but in no event greater than 8% per 
annum, and shall be payable at any time by the District. With the exception of the 2015/2017 
BANs, no Debt shall be issued by the District to a Developer to evidence the District’s obligation 
to reimburse advances or costs incurred by a Developer in the provision of Public Improvements.  
Any and all advances that are made by the Developer shall be repaid by the District from General 
Obligation Bonds or other legally available sources of revenue determined, in the sole discretion 
of the District, to be available for such purpose (subject to the provisions of the immediately 
succeeding paragraph) .  Repayment or refinancing of Developer advances shall not require City 
approval; provided, however, that: (i) no such refinancing shall convert any Developer advance 
into Debt hereunder; and (ii) any succeeding obligation to a Developer resulting from a refinancing 
shall continue to be subject to the requirements of this paragraph.  The Developer assumes the risk 
that the District will not have sufficient funds to repay advances for operating costs and capital 
costs including without limitation the delay, inability or failure of the District to sell or issue 
limited tax general obligation bonds.   

The District shall not be permitted to issue Debt after the date hereof unless, on or before 
the date of issuance of such Debt, the full amount of principal and interest on the 2015/2017 BANs, 
and the full amount due and owing under the 2006/2007 Reimbursement Agreements are paid in 
full (from the proceeds of such Debt and/or any legally available monies of the District).   

Notwithstanding any other provisions herein, it is acknowledged that the District issued 
the 2015/2017 BANs in favor of the Developer in a principal amount of $4,461,000 as a firm 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 20  
 

obligation of the District, allocated to the requisite and applicable portion of the District’s existing 
voted TABOR authorization and issued in accordance with the Original Service Plan.  
Notwithstanding the City’s approval of this Amended and Restated Service Plan, the 
authorizations of the Original Service Plan shall remain in force and effect to the extent necessary 
or ancillary to permit the District’s issuance of, compliance with and performance under the 
2015/2017 BANs.  Moreover, the District’s issuance of, compliance with and performance under 
the 2015/2017 BANs shall not constitute a material modification of this Service Plan or pursuant 
to the Act, generally, or Section 32-1-207, Colorado Revised Statutes, as may be amended, from 
time to time, specifically.  

X. ANNUAL REPORT 

The District shall be responsible for submitting an annual report to the City no later than 
April 1st of each year.  The annual report shall conform to the format agreed to by the City at the 
time this Service Plan is approved. 

XI. MODIFICATION OF SERVICE PLAN 

In the event the District plans to undertake an action that is not expressly authorized by this 
Service Plan, it shall be the District’s responsibility to contact the City Manager to seek, in 
accordance with the provisions set forth in Section V(A)(4), an administrative determination as to 
whether the action in question is permitted by the Service Plan.  If the Manager determines that 
the action may constitute a material modification, the District may appeal to the City Council.  If 
the City Council determines that the action constitutes a material modification, then the District 
may submit a Service Plan Amendment to the City for approval.  The City may approve, 
conditionally approve or deny in accordance with the provisions of Section 32-1-207, C.R.S., as 
amended.  Nothing herein contained shall prevent the City Manager from waiving any or all the 
requirements set forth in Section V(A)(4). 

In the event the development’s density is increased the issuance of debt in excess of the 
amount modeled in the Service Plan can occur and will not constitute a material modification of 
the Service Plan, provided the issuance of the additional amount of debt is approved in advance 
by either the City Manager or the City Council. 

XII. DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

The District has provided written notice to all purchasers of property in the District 
regarding the District’s authority to levy and collect ad valorem taxes and to impose and collect 
rates, fees, tolls, and charges, by recording a disclosure statement against the property within the 
District with the office of the El Paso County Clerk and Recorder on October 23, 2013 at Reception 
No. 213131578 and amended on 
__________________________________________________________________ and recorded 
at the El Paso County Clerk and Recorder on _______________ at Reception No. 
___________________ reflecting this Service Plan Amendment. 



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 21  
 

XIII. DISSOLUTION 

The District’s Board of Directors will comply, to the fullest extent possible, with any 
request from the City that the District dissolve.  Upon receipt of any such request the board will 
diligently pursue dissolution of the District if the City or some other public entity will continue the 
District’s essential services and accept ownership of and maintenance responsibility for the 
District’s facilities and all other requirements for dissolution as set forth in Section 32-1-701, et 
seq, .C.R.S., are satisfied. 

In addition to the foregoing, the District may file a petition in the District Court for 
dissolution when the District has no financial obligations or outstanding bonds, or any such 
financial obligations or outstanding bonds are adequately secured by escrow funds or securities 
meeting the investment requirements of Section 24-75-601, et seq, C.R.S., as amended.   

XIV. STATUTORY FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

It is submitted that this Service Plan for the District, as required by C.R.S. § 32-1-203, as 
amended, establishes that: 

1. There is sufficient existing and projected need for organized service in the 
area to be served by the District; 

2. The existing service in the area to be served by the District is inadequate for 
present and projected needs; 

3. The District can provide economical and sufficient service to the area within 
its proposed boundaries; 

4. The area to be included in the District does have, and will have, the financial 
ability to discharge the proposed indebtedness on a reasonable basis; 

5. Adequate services are not, and will not be, available to the area through the 
City or other existing municipal or quasi-municipal corporations, including existing special 
districts, within a reasonable time and on a comparable basis; 

6. The facility and service standards of the District are compatible with the 
facility and service standards of the City;  

7. The Service Plan is in substantial compliance with the City master plan;  

8. The proposal is in compliance with any duly adopted county, regional, or 
state long-range water quality management plan for the area; and 

9. The creation of the District will be in the best interests of the area proposed 
to be served. 



DRAFT: 10/4/2021 

Ventana Service Plan Amendment 10/2021 
   
 

Deleted: 8/11/21

Deleted: 8

EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description 



DRAFT: 10/4/2021 

Ventana Service Plan Amendment 10/2021 
   
 

Deleted: 8/11/21

Deleted: 8

EXHIBIT B 

Vicinity Map 



DRAFT: 10/4/2021 

Ventana Service Plan Amendment 10/2021 
   
 

Deleted: 8/11/21

Deleted: 8

EXHIBIT C 

District Boundary Map 



DRAFT: 10/4/2021 

Ventana Service Plan Amendment 10/2021 
   
 

Deleted: 8/11/21

Deleted: 8

EXHIBIT D 

Financial Plan



Ventana Service Plan Amendment 8/2021 26  
 

EXHIBIT E 

Operations and Maintenance Financial Plan 


	VMD Agenda
	VMD Meeting Minutes 9/8/2021
	Payables as of 10/13/2021
	Balance Sheet
	Profit & Loss Budget Comparison
	Managers Report
	Additional Camera Proposal
	October News Letter

	Service Plane - Redlined version



